2005

Micheal C. Posner v. Equity Title Insurance Agency, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has original jurisdiction under U.C.A. §78-2-2(3)(j); the Supreme Court transferred this case to the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to U.C.A. § 78-2-2(4).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The trial court's summary judgment ruling presents the following issues on appeal:

- a. Whether the trial court correctly ruled that the plaintiff's real estate agent acted within her actual/implied or apparent authority when she instructed the defendant Equity Title Insurance Agency, Inc., to close plaintiff's land sale.
- b. Whether the trial court correctly ruled defendant Equity Title Insurance Agency, Inc met its fiduciary duties to plaintiff when its escrow agent, absent written authorization, closed plaintiff's sale without the surety bond required under the terms of the real estate purchase contract.

The standard of review for both issues is correctness: An appellate court reviews a grant of summary judgment without deference to the trial court's legal conclusions, and considers the evidence in the light most favorable to the losing party. The reviewing court affirms only where there is no genuine dispute as to material issues of fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Wycalis v. Guardian Title of Utah*, 780 P. 2d 821, 824 (Utah Ct. App. 1989).

These issues were reserved for appeal because the appellant filed a timely notice of appeal (R. 628-630) following the trial court's entry of a minute order on May 24, 2005 granting summary judgment in favor of Defendant/Appellee Equity Title Insurance Agency, Inc. and defendant Independence Title Insurance Agency.

Addendum 1.

DETERMINATIVE LAW

The following state statute and administrative rule are of central importance in this appeal:

U.C.A. § 25-5-3. Leases and contracts for interest in lands.

Every contract for the leasing for a longer period than one year, or for the sale, of any lands, or any interest in lands, shall be void unless the contract, or some note or memorandum thereof, is in writing subscribed by the party by whom the lease or sale is to be made, or by his lawful agent thereunto authorized in writing.

U.A.C.A. R162-6-1. Licensee Conduct.

6.1.11.1. A principal broker and licensees acting on his behalf who represent a seller shall have a written agency agreement with the seller defining the scope of the agency.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The complaint in this case was filed on January 31, 2004, in Third District Court in Salt Lake City, against Equity Title Insurance Agency, Inc. (Equity) and Independence Title Insurance Agency (Independence). R. 1-23. (Complaint). The complaint alleged breach of fiduciary duty, negligence and breach of contract against the defendants for closing Posner's land sale without the surety bond required by his Real Estate Purchase Contract, thereby effecting a sale to an unqualified buyer. R. 7-10.

On February 9, 2004, Independence filed a Motion and Memorandum to dismiss. R. 24-26, R. 27-32. On February 25, plaintiff filed its Memorandum in Opposition to Independence's Motion to Dismiss (R. 39-44), and Independence filed its Reply on February 27. R. 48-55. The trial court denied Independence's motion to dismiss on May 10, 2004. R. 75.

On March 3, 2004, Equity filed its Answer to plaintiff's complaint. R.56-66. On December 22, 2004, the plaintiff moved to amend its first complaint in order to add a

third defendant, NRT, Inc., a New Jersey corporation doing business in Utah as Coldwell Banker Residential Brokerage (hereinafter Coldwell). R. 119-120. The trial court granted permission to amend on February 7, 2005 (R.165), and on March 28, Posner filed a First Amended Complaint in which he added Coldwell as a third defendant and dropped the breach of contract claims against defendants. R. 323-336.

On March 28 and 29 respectively, Equity and Independence filed Motions and Memoranda in support of summary judgment. R.258-322 (Equity), R. 337-418 (Independence). Posner filed a Memorandum Opposing Summary Judgment on April 14. R. 455-545. Defendants filed Reply Memoranda in Support of Summary Judgment on April 15 (Independence R. 546-566) and April 22 (Equity 594-601). On May 24, 2005 *the Court granted summary judgment to Equity and Independence. Addendum 1.* Posner filed a timely notice of appeal of the trial court's decision to grant summary judgment to Equity on June 20. R. 628-630. Posner did not appeal the Court's dismissal of his claim against Independence. Mr. Posner and Coldwell Banker jointly requested, and were granted, a stay of proceedings pending the outcome of this appeal. R. 635-637.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In the summer of 2002, Michael Posner retained Coldwell Banker Residential Brokerage to list two lots he owned in Deer Valley, and hired Coldwell real estate agent Kandis Christoffersen. R. 274, ¶'s 12, 13 (First Amended Complaint). In July, Posner negotiated a sale of his land for a purchase price of \$450,000 (R.287, Posner's Real Estate Purchase Contract), agreeing to provide \$260,000 in seller financing. Addendum 3. To ensure that he would receive payment in full, Posner inserted a condition in his

Real Estate Purchase Contract (REPC) that required the buyer, Chris Strachan, to supply a surety bond in the same amount as his seller financing. Addendum 4, Addendum 5. Posner retained Equity Title Insurance Agency, Inc. as his title company. R. 16 (Posner's Settlement Statement). The buyer hired Independence Title Insurance Agency of Salt Lake City as his title company. R.79. (Answer of Independence).

On or about August 23, Posner signed closing papers, left them with Equity to complete the closing, and returned to his residence in Florida. R. 362, p. 34, Ins. 1-4 (Posner Deposition). He did not give any written authorization to Kandis Christoffersen or anyone at Equity to make changes on his behalf. R. 481-483, ¶'s 3,11,12. (Posner Affidavit) On or about August 28, Strachan closed with Independence. R. 21 (Buyer's Settlement Statement). At closing Strachan supplied a document entitled "Financial Guarantee" (the Guarantee) for \$260,000 (Addendum 2), and requested that Posner add \$3,900 to the seller financing amount. Posner approved the \$3,900 increase to his seller financing from his residence in Florida by fax and in writing (Addendum 3),¹ but was never informed that the buyer had supplied a so-called "Financial Guarantee" for \$260,000 rather than a surety bond for the full amount of the seller financing (\$263,900). R. 483, ¶ 14 (Posner's Affidavit).

Equity closed Posner's sale when Kandis Christoffersen verbally instructed Equity escrow agent Helen Smith that Posner had seen and approved the Guarantee and said to close. R. 263-264, ¶'s 1-4(Equity's Statement of Undisputed Facts). Equity does not allege that it closed the sale with the signature of Posner or Kandis Christoffersen

¹ See also R. 16, line 206 (Posner's Settlement Statement)

approving the change from a \$263,900 surety bond to a \$260,000 Financial Guarantee. R. 263-264, ¶¶ 1-4 (Equity's Statement of Undisputed Facts). See also Addendum 3.²

Subsequently, Strachan never made a payment on the land. When Posner learned of Strachan's default in November of 2002, he attempted to collect on the Financial Guarantee but it proved worthless. R. 329, ¶ 31 (First Amended Complaint). To mitigate his damages, Posner bought back his land in June of 2003 for approximately \$120,000 more than he had received at the time of closing. R. 334, ¶ 37 (First Amended Complaint).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Posner alleges negligence and breach of fiduciary duty against Equity for closing his land sale with a "Financial Guarantee" rather than the "surety bond" his REPC required. In granting summary judgment to Equity, the trial court ruled that (1) real estate agent Kandis Christoffersen's instructions to Equity to close fell within the scope of "her actual implied and/or apparent authority" as Posner's real estate agent and (2) that Equity breached no duty to Posner. Addendum 1.

The trial court erred in finding that Christoffersen's verbal instructions provided a basis for Equity to close, as changes to Posner's REPC required his *written* approval.³ In this case, Christoffersen's instruction to close with the \$260,000 Financial Guarantee changed the contract in two respects: (1) it allowed closing to occur without a valid

² Addendum 3 is the page of Posner's REPC on which he crossed out the figure of \$260,000, wrote in \$263,900 and initialed approval of this new amount of seller financing early on the morning of August 30, 2002. This page contains the requirement "surety bond will be issued in the amount above before close"; but no further modifications by Posner appear on this page.

³ Three days prior to the hearing on summary judgment, counsel for Posner informed the trial court via letter and defendants via email and letter, that she intended to rely on the Statute of Frauds and Posner's REPC. This letter does not appear in the official record; however, the transcript from the summary judgment hearing confirms that Judge Medley and Equity received notice: (R. 644, p. 16-20; p. 32-34). At the conclusion of oral argument, the trial court gave the defendants a week to brief this point of law. R. 644, p. 28 and pp. 35-36. Defendants declined to brief this point. R. 644, p. 36.

“surety bond”; and (2) it altered the amount of seller financing from \$263,900 to \$260,000. See Addenda 2-5.

U.C.A. §25-5-3, case law and the terms of Posner’s REPC require changes to a real estate contract to be made in writing by either a party to the contract, or his authorized agent. *Golden Key Realty v. Mantas*, 699 P. 2d 730, 732 (Utah 1985), *Zion’s Properties, Inc. v. Holt*, 538 P. 2d 1319, 1322 (Utah 1975); *Coombs v. Ouzounian*, 465 P. 2d 356, 358 (Utah 1970). When she instructed Equity to close, Christoffersen possessed neither Posner’s written approval of the Guarantee nor written authorization to act in his place. Equity’s summary judgment motion provided no evidence that anyone—Posner or Christoffersen—approved the Financial Guarantee in writing. R.258-322, R. 594-601 (Equity’s Memorandum and Reply in Support of Summary Judgment). Accordingly, the trial court’s ruling that Christoffersen acted within her authority is incorrect as a matter of law.

In addition, the trial court plainly erred in ruling that Equity’s evidence met the threshold requirements for actual, implied or apparent authority. For example, the scope of a real estate agent’s authority must be set forth in writing.⁴ Equity’s evidence that Christoffersen had actual/implied authority, however, consists solely of deposition testimony. As Equity has not offered the agency contract between Posner and Christoffersen into evidence (R. 263-264, Undisputed Facts, Equity’s Summary Judgment Memorandum), and Posner denies that his agency contract contained such authority (R.481, ¶ 12 (Posner Affidavit), there is no proper basis for finding that Christoffersen acted within her actual authority.

⁴ Utah Admin. Code R162-6-1(6.1.11.1.).

Equity's argument in support of apparent authority is also deficient; its evidence fails to establish that Posner's conduct caused Equity's escrow agent to believe that Christoffersen could change Posner's contract without written authorization. In fact, Smith admitted that she knew she needed Posner's, not Christoffersen's, approval to close with the Financial Guarantee. R. 525, Ins. 20-25, R. 526, R. 527, Ins.1-4. (Smith Deposition). See *City Elec. V. Dean Chrysler-Plymouth*, 672 P. 2d 89, 90 (Utah 1983): "...apparent authority vanishes when the third party has actual knowledge of the real scope of the agent's authority."

For these reasons, the trial court's ruling that Christoffersen acted within her authority should be reversed. If the trial court's ruling on Christoffersen's authority is reversed, then the second ruling that Equity breached no duty must also be reversed, as Equity has offered no other undisputed facts or points of law to substantiate this ruling.

ARGUMENT

A. The Trial Court's ruling violates the Utah Statute of Frauds and Posner's REPC.

The trial court's conclusion that Kandis Christoffersen acted within her authority disregards the fundamental requirement that changes to a real estate contract must be in writing. Utah's Statute of Frauds U.C.A. § 25-5-3 states in pertinent part:

Every contract ...for the sale, of any lands, or any interest in lands, shall be void unless the contract, or some note or memorandum thereof, is in writing subscribed by the party by whom the sale is to be made, or by his lawful agent thereunto authorized in writing.

When the law requires a contract to be in writing, any changes to the contract must also be made in writing. See *Golden Key Realty v. Mantas*, 699 P. 2d 730, 732 (Utah 1985), *Zion's Properties, Inc. v. Holt*, 538 P. 2d 1319, 1322 (Utah 1975); *Coombs*

v. Ouzounian, 465 P. 2d 356, 358 (Utah 1970). See also § 301 STATUTE OF FRAUDS 72 Am. Jur. 2d: Generally, a contract for the exchange of lands entered into by an agent under verbal authority cannot be enforced where the Statute of Frauds requires the authority of the agent...to be in writing. Consistent with U.C.A. § 25-5-3, Posner's REPC also required that all changes "must be made in writing by the Parties to the contract". Addendum 6

The Statute of Frauds applies to Posner's land sale; therefore, his real estate contract, and any changes to it, had to be in writing. Indeed, since applicable law as well as the REPC required *Posner's* written authorization to change the contract terms, his real estate agent, under any theory of authority, certainly could not make changes verbally. To decide differently not only defeats the purpose of the Statute of Frauds but also gives an agent more legal power than her principal possessed at the outset.

At closing, Posner's REPC was materially changed without his written authorization: Posner authorized \$263,900 in seller financing, and his REPC specifically required "a surety bond in the same amount" as the seller financing. Equity accepted a Financial Guarantee that departed from this REPC requirement in two ways: it was designated "Financial Guarantee", rather than "surety bond"⁵ and it was written for \$3,900 less than the REPC required.⁶ When Equity closed with the Guarantee, it

⁵ Significantly, the trial court considered whether "Financial Guarantee" and "Surety bond" were synonymous terms in Independence's Motion to Dismiss (R 27-32) and its Reply Memorandum. R. 48-55 The Court declined to make a final determination on this point and denied Independence's motion. R. 75.

⁶ Under Utah law, a "surety bond" must be issued by a licensed insurance company authorized by the state insurance department, see U.C.A. § 31A -22-103, and must comply with minimum capital or surplus requirements set by the state: U.C.A. § 31A-5-211. Posner claims the Financial Guarantee was not a surety bond. R. 39-43. (Posner's Memorandum in Response to 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss).

accepted a document that materially departed from the terms of Posner's REPC without his written approval.⁷

Posner's *written* authorization (or *written* approval from an agent authorized by Posner in writing) was a necessary prerequisite to closing with the Guarantee rather than a \$263,900 surety bond. Significantly, even if Posner had approved the Guarantee, his signature was still necessary. Equity has never supplied written authorization approving the Guarantee as grounds for Kandis Christoffersen's authority (R. 263, R. 598), yet this is the only proper basis for finding that Christoffersen had authority to change the contract. The trial court's ruling that Christoffersen acted within her authority is therefore incorrect. This point alone provides the reviewing the Court with sufficient grounds for reversing the trial court's decision on Christoffersen's authority: "Summary judgment is appropriate only when...the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Hill v. Allred*, 28 P.3d 1271, 1275 (Utah 2001); see also Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c).

B. The Trial Court erred in ruling that Kandis Christoffersen acted within the scope of her actual, implied and/or apparent authority.

Even if the Utah Statute of Frauds is not controlling on the issue of Christoffersen's authority, reversal is still warranted because 1) Equity's evidence of Christoffersen's actual or implied authority is legally insufficient, and 2) Equity's evidence does not satisfy threshold requirements for finding apparent authority.

⁷ Given Equity's failure to present either evidence or argument refuting Posner's claim that his REPC was breached, and consistent with the requirement to view the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, Posner's claim that a breach occurred must be taken as true for the purposes of this appeal. See *Kouris v. Utah Highway Patrol*, 70 P.3d 72, 75 (Utah 2003): in reviewing a grant of summary judgment, [the reviewing court must] view the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.

a. Actual Authority

Actual authority encompasses both express and implied authority. *Zion's First National Bank v. Clark Clinic Corp.*, 762 P. 2d 1090, 1994, (Utah 1988). In support of its claim that Christoffersen had express authority, Equity relies (R. 266) on the general rule that "Express authority exists where the principal directly *states* that an agent has the authority to perform a particular act on the principal's behalf." (emphasis added) *Id.* (additional cites omitted). The sole basis of Equity's claim that Christoffersen had express authority is deposition testimony by Posner:

The only reason that Kandis was at my closing was to get her commission. And my contact with her as being I guess my agent was to make sure that it closed. And she was the one negotiating back and forth with the contract [the REPC] as far as making sure that we had surety bond and how much it was and everything else. R. 267

In this quote Posner describes what he thought Christoffersen was doing at his closing.⁸ This statement does not trump other deposition testimony Posner has cited as proof that he *did not* authorize Christoffersen.⁹ R. 467. (Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition to Equity's Summary Judgment Motion) Indeed, Posner's explicit denial that he granted Christoffersen express authority in and of itself raises a factual issue mandating rejection of summary judgment. See R. 483, ¶'s 11, 12. (Posner's Affidavit)

Moreover, as a matter of law, Equity's reliance on such verbal evidence is inapposite: in Utah, a real estate agent's express authority must be put in writing. Utah Admin. Code, Rule 162-6-1(6.1.11.1) (1993)¹⁰ requires that the scope of a real estate

⁸ Nor is it clear that the second sentence of this quotation refers to Christoffersen's role at closing, rather than to her role as a conduit for negotiations between Posner and Strachan regarding the original requirement of the surety bond.

⁹ Both quotes are retrospective commentaries uttered more than two years *after* Posner's closing; as such, neither constitutes direct evidence of a statement Posner made, prior to his closing, expressly authorizing Christoffersen to act for him at his closing.

¹⁰ Pursuant to U.C.A. § 61-2-5.5, creating a Real Estate Commission authorized to make administrative rules, Utah Admin. Code Rule 162-6-1(6.1.11.1) (1993) of the Division of Real Estate, Utah Department of

agent's authority be defined in a written agency agreement.¹¹ The written agency agreement between Posner and Coldwell Banker was Posner's listing agreement. R. 301, Ins. 4-9. (Christoffersen Deposition); R. 468. (Posner's Memorandum Opposing Summary Judgment).

A listing agreement does not grant broad or general powers to a real estate agent, but commonly confers to a brokerage the right to find a buyer for the vendor and to receive a commission, §13.02(b)(1), § 13.02(b)(1)(i). Realtor Agreements; Commissions. UTAH REAL PROPERTY LAW, 1999. See also *Pilling v. Eastern and Pacific Enterprises Trust*, 702 P. d 1232, 1237 (Wash. App. 1985): (The scope of the agency between the seller and the broker is defined by the agent's purpose, which is to find a purchaser.); *Painter v. Huke*, 862 P. 2d 566, 568 (Ore. App. 1993): (listing agreement authorizing broker to sell vendor's property "at the selling price and on the terms noted" did not provide express or implied authority to agent to accept a buyer's offer on terms different than those specified in the contract).

In particular, a listing agreement does not authorize real estate agents to transact transfers of real property on behalf of their principals. See *Frandsden v. Gerstner*, 487 P. 2d 697,700 (Utah 1971): (A listing agreement empowering the realtor to find a buyer does not authorize the broker in writing to execute a contract of sale on behalf of his principal: "Thus the authority of a real estate broker with whom lands are listed for sale does not extend to the signing of a contract for sale. The power to execute a contract of

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