2005

Michael C. Posner v. Equity Title Insurance Agency, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court’s summary judgment in favor of Equity Title should be affirmed because Mr. Posner’s instructions to Equity Title, conveyed through his agent, Ms. Christoffersen, are binding upon Mr. Posner. Two days after Equity Title faxed the Financial Guarantee to Ms. Christoffersen, Ms. Christoffersen informed Equity Title that Mr. Posner had approved the Financial Guarantee and specifically instructed Equity Title that it should close the transaction. Ms. Christoffersen’s statements to Equity Title in this regard were within the scope of her actual and/or apparent authority, and are binding upon Mr. Posner. Equity Title cannot be liable for a breach of duty to Mr. Posner for following the specific instructions of his agent.

Mr. Posner's argument that the district court's ruling violates the Statute of Frauds, Utah Code Ann. § 25-5-3, is without merit.¹ The Statute of Frauds is a *defense* available to a person who is a party to an oral contract against whom the enforcement of the contract is being sought *by the other party*. That is not the situation in this case. Mr. Posner is the plaintiff; he is not availing himself of the provisions of the Statute of Frauds as a defense to liability to the other party to a real estate contract. Moreover, a third-party guarantee contract, whether it is called a "surety bond" or "financial guarantee," is neither a lease agreement nor a contract for the sale of land or interest in land. Therefore, § 25-5-3 is inapplicable to it. There is no requirement under § 25-5-3 that such a contract, including changes thereto, must be in writing and signed by Mr. Posner.

Mr. Posner is also incorrect in arguing that the REPC was materially changed because the guarantee contract was called "Financial Guarantee" rather than "surety bond," and had a face amount of \$260,000 rather than \$263,900. These differences are substantively immaterial. If the Financial Guarantee had been entitled "surety bond," Mr. Posner would be in no different position than he is today. A surety bond is simply a performance bond, which is precisely what the Financial Guarantee purports to be. The

¹ Whether a violation of the Statute of Frauds occurred is not even an issue presented for review by Mr. Posner. *See* Brief of Appellant at 1. Mr. Posner did not make any argument regarding the Statute of Frauds in his memorandum in opposition to Equity Title's Motion for Summary Judgment. R. 455-80. He improperly raised this issue for the first time in a letter (which is not even included in the Record) Mr. Posner's attorney sent to the district court on the eve of the summary judgment hearing. Brief of Appellant at 5, n.3. Equity Title objected to Mr. Posner's tactic at the hearing (R. 644 at p. 28), and does so again here. Out of an abundance of caution, Equity Title addresses Mr. Posner's improper Statute of Frauds argument below, but requests the Court to disregard Mr. Posner's unpreserved and improper argument.

cause of Mr. Posner's loss was not the title of the document; it was the selection of the guarantor, which is a matter that that did not involve Equity Title.

Likewise, the \$3,900 difference between the face amount of the Financial Guarantee and Mr. Posner's belated revision to Addendum No. 9 to the REPC is also immaterial. Mr. Posner admitted that neither Strachan nor the guarantor, American Natural Resources Corporation, ever made a single payment to Posner. R. 329. Thus, there is no causal connection between Strachan's default (or the guarantor's default) and the fact that the Financial Guarantee had a face amount of \$260,000 rather than \$263,300.

Moreover, Mr. Posner changed Addendum No. 9 to the REPC, crossing out the figure \$260,000 and interlineating the figure \$263,900, *after* Strachan had closed his side of the transaction and *after* American Natural Resources had executed the Financial Guarantee for \$260,000. R. 411, 317-22; Brief of Appellant at 5, n.2. Mr. Posner's change to Addendum No. 9 was not initialed by Strachan. If the Statute of Frauds has any application in this case, it would be to void Mr. Posner's unilateral change to the REPC. This issue is moot, however, because Mr. Posner's agent expressly instructed Equity Title that Mr. Posner had approved the Financial Guarantee and that Equity Title should close the transaction.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT SHOULD BE AFFIRMED BECAUSE MR. POSNER IS BOUND BY HIS AGENT'S INSTRUCTION TO EQUITY TITLE THAT MR. POSNER HAD APPROVED THE FINANCIAL GUARANTEE AND THAT EQUITY TITLE SHOULD CLOSE THE TRANSACTION.

The district court properly granted summary judgment in Equity Title's favor because Mr. Posner's agent told Equity Title that Mr. Posner had approved the Financial Guarantee, and that Equity Title should proceed with the closing. Thus, Equity Title's actions in closing the transaction with the Financial Guaranty in place were taken on the express consent, approval and instruction of Mr. Posner's agent. Ms. Christoffersen's statements to Equity Title were within the scope of her actual and/or apparent authority to act in Mr. Posner's behalf, and therefore are binding against Mr. Posner.

A. Mr. Posner Is Bound by the Statements of His Agent to Equity Title Regarding His Approval of the Financial Guarantee and Instruction to Proceed with the Closing.

Ms. Christoffersen was Mr. Posner's agent with respect to the subject transaction, and had Mr. Posner's actual and/or apparent authority to accept the Financial Guarantee supplied by Strachan and to instruct Equity Title to proceed with the closing of the transaction. Accordingly, Mr. Posner is bound by the representations and instructions Christoffersen conveyed to Equity Title. *See Producers Livestock Loan Co. v. Miller*, 580 P.2d 603, 605-606 (Utah 1978) ("It is fundamental that where one authorized another to act for him and for his intended benefit that, insofar as the latter is doing acts within the scope of the authority given, or acts reasonably calculated to further that purpose, the principal so authorizing is deemed to be performing those acts himself.").

“Actual authority can be either express or implied.” *Diston v. EnviroPak Med. Products, Inc.*, 893 P.2d 1071, 1076 (Utah App. 1995). In *Zions First Nat’l Bank v. Clark Clinic Corp.*, 762 P.2d 1090 (Utah 1988), the Utah Supreme Court explained that:

Actual authority incorporates the concepts of express and implied authority. Express authority exists whenever the principal directly states that its agent has the authority to perform a particular act on the principal’s behalf. Implied authority, on the other hand, embraces authority to do those acts which are incidental to, or are necessary, usual, and proper to accomplish or perform, the main authority expressly delegated to the agent.

Zions First Nat’l Bank v. Clark Clinic Corp., 762 P.2d 1090, 1095 (Utah 1988).

In contrast to actual authority, “[a] finding of apparent authority requires that the acts or conduct of the principal, [Mr. Posner], creates an appearance which causes a third party, [Equity Title], to reasonably believe that a second party, [Ms. Christoffersen], has authority to act on the principal’s behalf.” *Diston*, 892 P.2d at 1076. “Basic agency law dictates that a principal is bound by the acts of an agent clothed with apparent authority.” *Horrocks v. Westfalia Systemat*, 892 P.2d 14, 15 (Utah App. 1995). See also *Watson v. Tom Growney Equip., Inc.*, 721 P.2d 1302, 1304 (N.M. 1986) (seller’s agent who told buyer that approval had been granted for sale of backhoe and who had apparent authority to make representation bound seller to contract with buyer); *Au v. Au*, 626 P.2d 173, 178 (Haw. 1981) (“[A]n owner is responsible for the representations of his agent made within the scope of his agent’s selling authority.”).

B. Ms. Christoffersen Acted Within the Scope of the Actual and/or Apparent Authority Granted to Her by Mr. Posner.

The district court correctly found that Ms. Christoffersen was acting within the scope of her actual implied and/or apparent authority when she communicated to Equity Title that Mr. Posner had approved the Financial Guarantee and that he had instructed that Equity Title should proceed with the closing. R. 619-24. The undisputed facts in the Record below confirm that Ms. Christoffersen had actual and/or apparent authority over all aspects of the closing, including determinations regarding the adequacy of “surety bond.” Mr. Posner admitted in his First Amended Complaint that Ms. Christoffersen was his agent for this transaction. R. 326, at ¶ 13. The Real Estate Purchase Contract identifies Ms. Christoffersen as Mr. Posner’s agent in the transaction. R. 288. Mr. Posner admitted under oath that Christoffersen was his agent with specific authority over the closing and the terms of the “surety bond”:

Q. Can you just elaborate on what your -- what her [Ms. Christoffersen’s] role at closing was? Was there an agreement in place that she would be contacted?

A. The only reason Kandis was at the closing was to get her commission. And my contact with her as being I guess *my agent* was to *make sure that it closed*. And she was the one that was *negotiating back and forth with the contract* as far as *making sure that we had a surety bond* and *how much it was and everything else*.

R. 285-86 (emphasis added). Ms. Christoffersen also testified that she was Mr. Posner’s agent. R. 300-01. Ms. Smith also testified that she understood Ms. Christoffersen to be Mr. Posner’s agent relating to issues beyond merely listing the properties for sale. R. 316; *see also* 312-14.

When Mr. Posner was confronted with the above-cited testimony in Equity Title's Motion for Summary Judgment, he responded by asserting that he had hired Ms. Christoffersen for the limited purpose of listing his property, but not to act as his agent at the closing. R. 462, 465, 468. He also submitted an affidavit to that effect, notwithstanding the fact that it was substantively inconsistent with his prior deposition testimony. R. 481-84. Mr. Posner's affidavit contains the following statements that are both inconsistent with his prior deposition testimony and are internally inconsistent:

2) I retained Kandis Christoffersen as my real estate agent at Colwell Banker to assist in locating a buyer and in preparing the Real Estate Purchase Contract for the sale.

3) I did not request that Kandis Christoffersen attend or participate in my closing at Equity on August 30th

10) I directed both Kandis Christoffersen and Helen Smith to make sure that the buyer supplied a "surety bond" at closing.

11) In making this instruction, I expected both Kandis Christoffersen and Helen Smith to act on my behalf in a manner consistent with the fiduciary level of duty that real estate agents and escrow agents owe respectively to their principal and to each party to the escrow agreement. This included the expectation that, if Ms. Christoffersen or Ms. Smith had any doubts or questions as the legitimacy of the buyer's surety bond, they would notify me of the problem. . . .

12) I never authorized Kandis Christoffesen [sic] to act as my *agent* at my closing, nor did I ever take any steps to give her apparent authority to act in my behalf.

R. 481-83 (emphasis original).

Thus, Mr. Posner testified in deposition that he authorized Ms. Christoffersen “to make sure that [the transaction] closed” (R. 286), and that Ms. Christoffersen “was one that was negotiating back and forth with the contract as far as making sure that we had a surety bond and how much it was and everything else.” R. 286. He also testified in his affidavit that he expected Ms. Christoffersen to determine whether she “had any doubts or questions as the legitimacy of the buyer’s surety bond” (R. 483), evidencing his delegation to her of a continuing role and his grant of discretion to her regarding the matter.

Notwithstanding these clear admissions, Mr. Posner, citing the affidavit he submitted after his deposition, states in his Brief of Appellant at 12 that “he expressly authorized Christoffersen to help find a buyer for his land *and nothing more.*” (Emphasis added.) The truth, however, is not like “a nose of wax, which may be turned and twisted in any direction.” *See White v. Dunbar*, 119 U.S. 47, 51 (1886). Mr. Posner’s claim that he limited the scope of Ms. Christoffersen’s agency to the sole function of finding him a buyer is belied by his own prior inconsistent testimony quoted above. Mr. Posner apparently believes that he, alone, can create a genuine issue of material fact by offering inconsistent testimony: “Indeed, Posner’s explicit denial that he granted Christoffersen express authority in and of itself raises a factual issue mandating rejection summary judgment.” Brief of Appellant at 10 (citing Mr. Posner’s Affidavit).

To the contrary, it is well recognized that “a party may not create a question of material fact, and thus forestall summary judgment, by submitting an affidavit contradicting his own sworn statements in a deposition.” *Dotson v. Delta Consol. Indus.*,

Inc., 251 F.3d 780, 781 (8th Cir. 2001). *See also Disc Golf Ass’n, Inc. v. Champion Discs, Inc.*, 158 F.3d 1002, 1008 (9th Cir. 1998); *Bohn v. Park City Group, Inc.*, 94 F.3d 1457, 1463 (10th Cir. 1996); *Franks v. Nimmo*, 796 F.2d 1230, 1237 (10th Cir. 1986); *Boswell v. Jasperson*, 266 F.Supp.2d 1314, 1320-21 (D. Utah 2003).² In such cases, “it is the deposition testimony, and not the affidavit, which is given credence.” *Valleza v. City of Laredo*, 331 F. Supp. 2d 579, 583 (S.D. Tex. 2004).

In summary, Ms. Christoffersen’s instruction to Equity Title that Mr. Posner had approved the Financial Guarantee and that Equity Title should go forward with the closing was well within the scope of the express authority Mr. Posner had granted to her,³ and in any event was certainly within the authority implicit to the main authority he had granted. Mr. Posner identified Ms. Christoffersen as his real estate agent in a writing signed by him, the REPC. R. 288.⁴ He also identified Ms. Christoffersen as his real

² Some courts have allowed an exception that, “[a]lthough a deposition may be more reliable than an affidavit, it does not mean that the affidavit may be ignored, especially if the affidavit explains the apparent inconsistency.” *Van Zweden v. Southern Pac. Trans. Co.*, 741 F.Supp. 209, 211 (D. Utah 1990). However, Mr. Posner’s affidavit does not fit within this exception. As shown above, Mr. Posner did not seek merely to clarify, supplement or complete his prior deposition testimony, or to offer any explanation for the inconsistencies. Rather, he sought to retract or change his prior statements, to create a better record and a better case for himself, which is not allowed under the cases cited above.

³ Although the district court ruled that Ms. Christoffersen was acting within the scope of her “actual implied and/or apparent authority when she communicated plaintiff’s approval of the Financial Guarantee” (R. 620), the record on appeal also supports affirmation of the summary judgment order on the ground that Ms. Christoffersen was acting within the scope of her actual *express* authority. *See Salt Lake County v. Bangerter*, 928 P.2d 384, 386 (Utah 1996) (appellate court may affirm summary judgment order on any ground appearing in the record, whether relied upon by the district court or not).

⁴ Equity Title is uncertain what Mr. Posner means by the statement, “Equity has not

estate agent in his Amended Complaint. R. 326. After Ms. Christoffersen found a buyer for Mr. Posner, her agency continued through the closing of the transaction and encompassed details relating to approval of the “surety bond.” Specifically, Mr. Posner authorized Ms. Christoffersen to “negotiate[e] back and forth with the contract as far as making sure that we had a surety bond and how much it was *and everything else*.” R. 286 (emphasis added). He also authorized her to determine if she “had any doubts or questions as the legitimacy of the buyer’s surety bond” R. 483. He further authorized her “to make sure that [the transaction] closed.” R. 286. Thus, Ms. Christoffersen had express authority because her principal, Mr. Posner, directly stated that she had his authority to perform the particular acts at issue in this case on his behalf. *See Zions First Nat’l Bank*, 762 P.2d at 1095. In the alternative, Ms. Christoffersen had implied authority to perform the acts at issue because those acts were “incidental to, or [were] necessary, usual, and proper to accomplish or perform, the main authority expressly delegated to [her]. *Id.*

Moreover, Mr. Posner’s acts and conduct created an appearance which caused Equity Title to reasonably believe that Ms. Christoffersen had authority to act on Mr. Posner’s behalf. The indicia of agency with which Mr. Posner clothed Ms. Christoffersen as his agent included his acts of identifying her as his listing agent on the REPC (R. 288), using her to negotiate the purchase contract (R. 286), returning to Florida before the

offered the agency contract between Posner and Christoffersen into evidence.” Brief of Appellant at 6. The REPC was marked as Exhibit 1 to Mr. Posner’s deposition, which Equity Title attached as Exhibit C to the Memorandum in Support of Equity Title’s Motion for Summary Judgment. R. 263, 287-298.

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